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2.	 The	Global	Economic	Crisis	and	
Enterprises	in	Asia

While there are several excellent recent discussions of the 
global economic crisis, most cover its macroeconomic 
aspects. In this section we investigate the impact, actual 
and expected, of the global crisis on Asian workers and 
enterprises as it works through the trade channel. We 
begin by examining the channels through which the crisis 
is affecting Asian firms and workers. We then review 
recent labor force data from national statistics offices in 
the region, and address the following questions: which 
industrial sectors have seen the steepest declines in 
exports? Given available data on enterprises what can we 
say about the types of enterprises likely to be hardest hit? 
In particular, how is the crisis affecting SMEs? We next 
discuss how governments are helping enterprises cope, 
especially SMEs. We conclude this part of the chapter by 
discussing longer-term issues, including the importance 
of fostering dynamism in SMEs, within the context of the 
crisis, and in its aftermath. 

For the analysis in this section we draw upon various 
sources of information, including industrial statistics, 
individual-level labor force surveys, and enterprise level 
surveys.� Given the diversity of the sources, not all the 
countries are covered by each dataset, as shown in Table 
�.1 below. We supplement these data with labor force 
statistics updates and information on the size distribution 
of enterprises from various official statistics agencies.

�	 Various	agencies	have	done	rapid	assessment	surveys,	especially	the	
International	Labour	Organization	(ILO).	Additionally,	more	in-depth	
survey	work	is	ongoing	and	being	planned.	For	example	ADB	and	ILO	
are	collaborating	on	a	study	that	will	assess	the	impact	of	the	crisis	
on	workers	in	several	countries,	including	the	electronics	sector	in	the	
Philippines,	furniture	production	in	the	People’s	Republic	of	China,	
the	garment	sector	 in	Cambodia,	and	car	accessory	production	 in	
Thailand.

Table	�.1		Key Data Sources

Exports 
Data* 

(monthly) UNIDO Data

Labor Force 
Surveys  

(micro data)

World Bank 
Enterprise 

Survey 
(WBES)

PRC √ √ √
Hong	Kong,	China √ √
India √ √ √ √
Indonesia √ √ √ √
Korea,	Republic	of √ √ √
Malaysia √ √
Philippines √ √ √ √
Singapore √ √
Taipei,China √
Thailand √ √ √
Viet	Nam √ √ √

*	Export	data	are	monthly	and	are	obtained	through	the	CEIC	Data	Company	Ltd.
PRC	=	People’s	Republic	of	China;	UNIDO	=	United	Nations	Industrial	Development	
Organization;	WBES	=	World	Bank	Enterprise	Survey.

2.1	 Impact	Channels	of	the	Current	Crisis	on	Firms

The global economic crisis is affecting developing Asia’s 
firms through a number of channels. For its most export-
oriented economies, the contraction in international trade 
has been the most important, driving a severe contraction 
of demand for Asian exports that began in the last quarter 
of �008 (see Figure �.1).� This has led to a corresponding 
decline in industrial production in many countries (see 
Figure �.�).

It is certainly not only export-oriented manufacturers 
that have been hurt. For example, in countries with 
large tourism sectors, the economic contraction in the 
industrialized world can be expected to hurt enterprises 
engaged in travel and tourism (see Figure �.�). Similarly, 
demand, or growth in demand of other services exports 
has declined. For example, in India, annual growth rates of 
sales of information technology (IT) services, outsourcing, 
and software exports for the year ending March �009 
fell to almost half of the double-digit growth rates of the 
preceding five years (see Figure �.4). 

The availability of finance is a second channel 
through which Asian enterprises have been affected by the 
global financial crisis. While Asia’s financial institutions 
and systems have so far been relatively stable and largely 
unscathed—thanks to their limited exposure to subprime 
assets and related financial products and the relative 
strength of Asia’s banking systems4—access to external 
finance has remained tight as investors from industrial 
countries have pulled back from developing countries 
to bolster balance sheets at home, and plans for direct 
investment have been postponed or shelved.� Indeed, as 

�	 The	initial	analysis,	 in	�008,	had	been	much	more	optimistic	that	
Asia	would	‘decouple’	and	escape	the	economic	downturn	that	began	
sometime	 in	 �007/08	 in	 the	 US	 and	 Organisation	 for	 Economic		
Co-operation	and	Development	economies.	This	belief	was	 rooted	
in	the	growing	share	of	intraregional	trade,	the	health	of	Asian	firms	
a	 year	 ago,	 and	 the	 low	 exposure	 of	 Asian	 financial	 institutions	
to	 the	 types	of	assets	 that	plagued	their	highly	 leveraged	western	
counterparts.	Although	Asian	financial	institutions	have	indeed	been	
in	better	health,	many	analysts	have	given	insufficient	attention	to	
the	fact	that	the	European	Union,	Japan,	and	the	United	States	(G�)	
accounted	 for	 around	 60%	 of	 final	 demand	 for	 developing	 Asia’s	
exports.	Thus,	weaknesses	in	the	G�	economies	and	their	demand	
for	imports	have	hurt	Asian	exporters.

�	 Indeed,	taking	a	cue	from	the	missteps	leading	to	the	1997/98	Asian	
financial	crisis,	Asian	governments	have	improved	the	soundness	of	
the	banks’	balance	sheets.	By	�007/08,	the	ratio	of	non-performing	
loans	on	bank	balance	sheets	of	various	Asian	countries	was	lower	
than	for	the	United	States,	and	the	return	on	assets	mostly	higher	
than	in	Japan	or	the	United	States.

�	 Total	net	portfolio	investment	for	the	newly	industrialized	economies	
(Hong	Kong,	China;	Republic	of	Korea;	Singapore;	and	Taipei,China)	
returned	to	positive	 in	the	first	quarter	of	�009.	For	the	ASEAN-�	
countries	(Indonesia,	Malaysia,	Philippines,	Thailand),	capital	outflows	
fell	from	�.9%	of	GDP	to	0.7%	of	GDP	(see	ADB	�009a).
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PRC = People’s Republic of China
Sources: CEIC Data Company Ltd. and authors’ estimates.

Figure 2.1  Manufactured Exports Growth (%, year-on-year changes)
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Figure 2.2  Index of Manufacturing Production (January 2004 = 100)
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SMEs fell more sharply than lending to larger firms (IMF 
�009b). And there is growing evidence in the region that 
banks have constrained lending to riskier borrowers, which 
tend to be smaller enterprises. Widening bond spreads in 
some countries, such as Malaysia, are another sign that 
credit may be scarcer, especially for smaller firms.

Smaller enterprises, especially informal ones, 
may also be facing difficulty gaining finance because of 
downward pressure on remittances. As Box �.1 explains, 
remittances fund both consumption and investment. While 
consumers may spend those funds on the products of large 
or smaller enterprises, investments go more generally to 
meet the capital needs of small startups and enterprises. 
Declining remittances are likely to prove particularly 
important for developing countries in Central Asia, as seen 
in the box table. 

Figure �.� shows, foreign direct investment flows into the 
region have fallen since peaking in �008 and are expected 
to remain sluggish through �009.

There are other indications of the tightening of credit. 
Data suggests that trade financing shrank in the last quarter 
of �008.� An International Monetary Fund (IMF) survey 
of 40 banks in early �009 suggests a worldwide decline in 
the value of trade finance in Jan-Oct �008 (IMF �009a), 
while syndicated loans for trade finance in Asia contracted 
the most since the 1997/98 Asian financial crisis (IMF 
�009b).7 In addition, evidence suggests that lending to 

6	 A		 lack	 of	 trade	 financing	 	triggered	 the	 rash	 of	 bankruptcies	 and	
defaults	in	the	1997/98	Asian	financial	crisis.

7	 However,	it	bears	noting	that	the	causality	is	not	clear:	the	decline	
in	the	value	of	trade	financing	could	be	due	to	a	reduction	in	actual	
trade,	which	does	lead	to	decreased	demand	for	trade	financing.

Sources: CEIC Data Company Ltd. and authors’ estimates.

Figure 2.3 Monthly Visitor Arrivals in Asia (%, year-on-year changes)
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Figure 2.4 IT Services in India: Real Annual Revenue Growth
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Figure 2.5 Private Capital Flows to Developing Asia
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Of course, few sectors can expect to remain unscathed 
as aggregate demand declines. For example, the shelving of 
investment plans has adverse implications for enterprises 
and workers engaged in the construction sector. 

2.2	 Crisis	Impact:	an	Assessment	Based	on	Recent	
Labor	Force	Surveys

While national statistics offices usually collect enterprise-
related statistics only annually, they often collect labor 

Box 2.1 Remittances

International remittances are a very important source of foreign 
exchange and funds for developing countries (Box Figure 2.1) and, as 
migrants worldwide reach around 200 million people, their earnings 
are a powerful force for reducing poverty. 

The latest available data shows that remittance flows to developing 
countries reached $328 billion in 2008, but are expected to decline 
about 7.3% in 2009 due to the current global crisis (World Bank 
2009). Remittance flows to Latin America declined earlier and 
more steeply, especially because the US remains the main country 
destination for Latin American migrant workers. On the other hand, 
flows to South Asia and East Asia remained strong, even through 
the first quarter of 2009. But near-term prospects may not be as 
bright (Box Table 2.1) because of two factors that work in tandem: 
declining new deployments from sending countries and an increasing 
number of returning workers from destination countries. The first is 
a result of declining demand and tightening of immigration policies, 
the second a consequence of rising layoffs in destination countries. 
In this context, rising remittances in recent months can be partly 
explained by returning workers sending or bringing home their income 
and savings. This is, of course, not to ignore the fact that remittance 
flows are much more stable than other financial flows and that the 
flows can even be countercyclical, that is, increasing during times of 
economic downturns (Box Figure 2.1). 

Source: ADB Staff.

Impact on Small Enterprises

For recipient economies, remittances are a significant source of 
income that can boost domestic demand by financing consumption 
and investment. While the consumption financed by remittances 
may be spent on products of either large or smaller enterprises, the 
investments that remittances fund are typically used to meet the 
capital needs of recipients operating small startups and enterprises. 
The impact of remittances on entrepreneurial dynamism can be 
significant—for example, in Mexico, it is estimated remittances 
account for 20% of invested capital for urban microenterprises 
(Woodruff and Zenteno 2001). In the Philippines, exogenous shocks 
to the income of migrant households are found to be correlated with 
household investments (Yang 2008). In particular, a one-standard-
deviation increase in the exchange rate at which remittance flows 
are converted into pesos leads to a 0.9 percentage point increase in 
household entry into manufacturing, a large effect considering that 
only 3.8% of households engage in manufacturing activities at the 
baseline.

Box Table 2.1  Estimates of Remittance Flows 
to Developing Countries, 2009–2010 (annual growth, %)

Base Case 
Forecast 

Low Case 
Forecast

2006 2007 2008e 2009f 2010f 2009f 2010f
Developing Countries 17.2 25.2 14.8 -7.3 2.9 -10.1 -0.3
East Asia and Pacific 13.4 23.4 19.6 -5.7 3.0 -8.8 -0.5
Europe and Central Asia 24.1 36.5 12.0 -14.9 3.0 -17.2 0.5
South Asia 19.7 40.1 32.8 -3.6 3.9 -6.4 0.5

Source: Ratha et al (2009, Table 1, pg. 10).

Sources: Revisions to Remittance Trends 2007, available: econ.worldbank.org;  
WB Migration and Remittance March 2009 data; World Development 
Indicators Online database; and Global Development Finance Online 
database.

Box Figure 2.1
Remittance and Other Financial Flows to Developing Countries
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force statistics quarterly. The most recent updates based on 
labor force surveys conducted in the first quarter of �009 
show that with a couple of exceptions unemployment is on 
the rise across developing Asia (see Table �.�).8 

8	 The	exceptions	are	Indonesia	and	the	Philippines,	where	first-quarter	
�009	unemployment	rates	have	actually	declined	slightly	on	a	year-on-
year	basis.	The	most	recent	update	from	the	BPS-Statistics	Indonesia	
shows	that	the	number	of	jobs	in	February	�009	is	still	a	few	million	
more	than	in	the	previous	year.	In	the	Philippines,	despite	a	sharp	
decline	in	exports,	the	unemployment	rate	declined	from	8.0%	last	
year	to	7.�%	in	April	�009,	even	while	labor	force	participation	rates	
increased	slightly.
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Table	�.�  Official Unemployment Rates (%)
Economy 2006 2007 2008* 2009*
China,	People's	Republic	of	1 �.1 �.0 �.� �.�
Hong	Kong,	China	� �.8 �.0 �.� �.1
Indonesia	� 10.� 9.8 8.� 8.1
Korea,	Republic	of	� �.� �.� �.0 �.8
Malaysia	� �.� �.� �.� �.0
Philippines	6 8.� 7.� 8.0 7.�
Singapore	7 �.� �.� 1.8 �.0
Taipei,China	8 �.8 �.9 �.8 �.8
Thailand	9 1.9 1.6 1.7 �.1
Viet	Nam	10 �.8 �.6 �.6 n.a.

Notes:	 n.a.	=	not	available
		 *	Data	for	the	People’s	Republic	of	China	refer	to	official	urban	unemployment	

rate,	most	recently	updated	by	July	��,	�009,	referring	to	the	quarter	ending	
June	�009.	Hong	Kong,	China	data	for	�006	and	�007	refer	to	annual	data.	
Data	for	�008	and	�009	refer	to	quarterly	data	collected	as	of	March	of	each	
year.	 Indonesia	 data	 refer	 to	 semi-annual	 data	 collected	 as	 of	 February	 of	
each	year.	Republic	of	Korea	data	refer	to	monthly	data	collected	as	of	May	
of	each	year.	For	Malaysia,	data	from	�006	to	�008	refer	to	annual	data,	and	
�009	refer	only	to	first	quarter	data.	Philippines	data	refer	to	quarterly	data	
collected	as	of	April	of	each	year.	Singapore	data	refer	to	first	quarter	data	of	
each	year.	Taipei,China	data	refer	to	monthly	data	collected	as	of	May	of	each	
year.	Thailand	data	refer	to	quarterly	data	collected	as	of	March	of	each	year.	
Viet	Nam	data	refer	to	official	annual	urban	unemployment	rate,	and	figures	
for	�007	and	�008	are	still	estimates.

Sources:	 Data	downloaded	July	10,	�009	from	the	following	sources:
	 1	 	 National	Bureau	of	Statistics	of	China	(www.stats.gov.cn/english/)
	 �	 	 Census	and	Statistics	Department	(www.censtatd.gov.hk)
	 �	 	 BPS-Statistics	Indonesia	(www.bps.go.id)
	 �	 	 Korean	Statistical	Information	Service	(www.kosis.kr)
	 �	 	 Department	of	Statistics	Malaysia	(www.statistics.gov.my/eng/)
	 6	 	 National	Statistics	Office	(www.census.gov.ph)
	 7	 	 Ministry	of	Manpower	(www.mom.gov.sg)
	 8	 	 National	Statistics	(eng.stat.gov.tw)
	 9	 	 National	Statistical	Office	(web.nso.go.th)
	 10	 	 General	Statistics	Office	of	Viet	Nam	(www.gso.gov.vn/).

Although the magnitude of the rise is still smaller 
than in the US, this is a significant change for some of the 
fast-growing countries. In the PRC, the rise of official urban 
unemployment to 4.�% in June brought it to its highest 
level in the last five years.9 The rise in unemployment 
rates has been more pronounced in Asia’s more advanced 
economies, such as Hong Kong, China; Korea; Singapore; 
and Taipei,China.10 

Perhaps more importantly, an aggregate statistic 
like the unemployment rate can mask considerable job 
creation and destruction at the sector level, the movement 
of employment from sectors with higher average wages to 
sectors with lower average wages—for example, losing a 
job in a manufacturing factory and moving to an informal 

9	 Jobless	urbanites	 jumped	to	8.86	million	by	the	end	of	the	fourth	
quarter	�008,	up	more	 than	half	 a	million	 from	 the	 third	 quarter	
�008.	But	some	researchers	estimated	that	true	urban	unemployment	
ought	to	be	twice	the	official	figure,	and	rural	unemployment	rates	
even	higher	than	urban.	Officially,	in	the	third	quarter	of	�008	more	
than	 10	 million	 migrant	 workers	 lost	 their	 jobs,	 while	 670,000	
factories	closed.	Official	data	also	showed	a	moderation	in	the	rise	
of	unemployment—urban	joblessness	by	the	end	of	June	�009	was	
less	than	the	level	in	March	�009.

10	 The	unemployment	rate	in	Taipei,China	hit	a	record	high	of	�.8%	in	
May	�009	after	almost	a	year	of	consecutive	monthly	rises.	

job in the wholesale and retail trade sector—and growing 
underemployment. As Box �.� describes, such processes 
were very much at work during the Asian financial crisis 
of 1997/98. Below we highlight some findings from recent 
official labor force statistics that suggest similar processes 
are at work in the current crisis.

(i)	 Manufacturing	has	been	hit	hard

One of the most striking features of the statistics is that, with 
the exception of Indonesia, manufacturing employment 
has declined across all economies noted above (panels  
a – h, Figure �.�). There were even manufacturing job losses 
in the Philippines, where overall unemployment decreased 
and where jobs in all other sectors increased. In addition, 
in a majority of countries, job losses in manufacturing are 
much greater than those in other sectors (except in Korea 
and Hong Kong, China). This is quite consistent with the 
notion that the main transmission channel from the global 
economic crisis to developing Asian countries is through a 
decline in manufacturing exports. It may be noted that while 
India does not collect or generate labor force statistics on 
a quarterly basis, a special survey of enterprises in specific 
sectors reveals that on net almost 100,000 jobs were lost 
in the manufacturing enterprises covered by the survey  
(panel i, Figure �.�). In contrast, employment in IT and 
business process outsourcing enterprises expanded. 

(ii)	 The	impact	has	spilled	over	into	other	sectors

The manufacturing sector is not the only one hurting. 
Given the curtailment of investment plans, construction 
activity has also slowed, hurting the group of workers 
probably most vulnerable to poverty, especially in urban 
areas. Indeed, construction sector job losses mounted in 
Indonesia, Korea, and Taipei,China (panels b, c, and g, 
Figure �.�). 

Moreover, as general economic activity declines, 
workers in the service sector have also begun to feel the 
pinch. For example, in Hong Kong, China, job losses 
have been severe in the external trade sector. In Indonesia, 
transport and storage sectors have shed jobs. In Korea, the 
number of employees in most major industries declined in 
�008 and �009, with the retail trade, restaurant and hotel 
sectors laying off the most workers (although for now the 
jobs lost are still being counterbalanced by an increase 
in employment in other service sectors). In Taipei,China 
retail trade jobs have been hit hard. 
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Box 2.2 Impact of the 1997/98 Asian Financial Crisis on Workers

Overall, the burden of labor market adjustment during the crisis 
was in reduced income and wages rather than employment loss. 
Despite the sharp contraction in manufacturing sectors in Indonesia, 
Malaysia, and Philippines, the actual decline in total employment 
was not as severe as the contraction in output (see Box Figure 2.2). 1

On the other hand, it took longer for the number of firms to return to 
pre-crisis levels. 

But unemployment presents only a partial view of the devastation 
wrought. Across all five severely affected countries (Indonesia, 
Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Philippines, and Thailand), the 

percentage of underemployed rose in the subsequent year, and 
was especially large in Indonesia. This highlights the fact that while 
workers were still employed, they were working fewer hours, and thus 
earned less income (see Box Table 2.2). In addition, although the 
first wave of layoffs emanated from manufacturing firms, we see that 
agriculture and service sectors were affected within a year of the 
crisis. But for some countries these two sectors acted as a safety-
valve in absorbing the employment losses from the industrial sector 
(see Box Table 2.3). 2

Note: Output and average wages are percentage changes of the real values (with 2000 as base year).
Source: United Nations Industrial Development Organization International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics.
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Box 2.2 continued on next page

(iii)	 Hours	worked	and	wages	are	being	cut	

Furthermore, available evidence suggests that even when 
people have retained their jobs they have variously faced 
cuts in hours worked, salary, and benefits. In Hong Kong, 
China workers in construction, public administration, 
and transportation sectors have experienced a decline in 
median hours of work (Figure �.7, panel a). In Singapore, 

although employment in sectors other than manufacturing 
grew (Figure �.�, panel f), hours worked has declined 
almost across the board (Figure �.7, panel b). Similarly, 
Table �.� shows that in Korea, Philippines, and Thailand 
the percentage of workers working less than 40/4� hours 
has increased year-on-year. In earnings, real declines have 
taken place almost across the board in Singapore and 
Thailand (Figure �.8 panels a and b). 
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1 Total employment in Thailand recovered within two years. In Republic of Korea, one of the worst hit countries, total employment contracted by about 6%, and it took four 
years before employment was back to pre-crisis levels.

2 In Indonesia, job losses in manufacturing were alleviated by positive growth in agriculture and services employment. In the Philippines, although job losses extended into 
the agricultural sector, service jobs grew by an astounding 21.4% between 1996 and 1998.

Box Table 2.2  Unemployment and 
Underemployment during Asian Financial Crisis

Unemployment Underemployment

1997 1998

Percentage 
point change 

1997–98 1997 1998

%
Changes
1997–98

Indonesia 4.7 5.4 0.7 35.8 39.1 9.2%
Korea, Rep.of 2.6 6.8 4.2 7.3 9.3 27.4%
Malaysia 2.6 4.0 1.4 7.3 7.9 8.2%
Philippines 8.7 10.1 1.4 11.3 11.9 5.3%
Thailand 2.2 5.2 3 0.9 1.2 33.3%

Note:  Underemployment is defined as: Malaysia, less than 30 hours per 
week; Republic of Korea, 35 hours or less per week; Indonesia, less 
than 35 hours per week; Thailand and the Philippines, less than 40 
hours per week and available for more hours.

Source: Betcherman and Islam (2001, Table 1.3, pg.13).

Box 2.2 continued from previous page

Box Table 2.3  Change in 
Employment and Real Wages during Asian Financial Crisis

% Changes in Employment, 
1996–1998 % Change in Real Wages

Agriculture Industry Service 1996 1997 1998
Indonesia 5.4 -1.5 1.3 10.8 8.7 -41.0
Korea, Rep. of 0 -13.2 -4.4 6.7 2.4 -9.3
Malaysia -5.4 -2.9 -1.9 2.1 3.3 -1.1
Philippines -8.3 -8.6 21.4 -2.0 -1.1 -2.0
Thailand -1.8 -1.9 na 2.3 1.4 -7.4

Source: Betcherman and Islam (2001, Table 1.4–1.5, pg.14).

Table	�.�		Hours Worked: Republic of Korea, Philippines, and Thailand

Country 
% of Workers Working Less than 40 hours* Per Week

first quarter 2008 first quarter 2009
Korea,	Republic	of	* �9.0 ��.9
Philippines ��.� �6.�
Thailand �8.9 �9.�

*	��	hours	for	Republic	of	Korea
Source:	 Korean	Statistical	Information	Service	(Republic	of	Korea),	National	

Statistics	Office	(Philippines),	National	Statistics	Office	(Thailand).

2.3	 What	Types	of	Enterprises	and	Workers	Are	
Being	Affected?	

While the aggregate numbers we have examined so far are 
helpful in understanding how workers and which sectors are 
being affected by the current global crisis, they do not tell 
us about the types of enterprises and workers. For example, 
is it the relatively smaller enterprises that are facing the 
brunt of the export decline, or relatively larger enterprises? 
To the extent that the economic crisis is putting pressure 
on the availability of finance, are smaller enterprises more 
vulnerable than others? Similarly, are female workers 
more likely to be affected than male workers? Having a 
sense of these characteristics is useful for policy purposes. 
It can help target assistance and policy responses to those 
worst affected. 

We face a data-related challenge in identifying these 
characteristics. As noted earlier, micro-data from nationally 
representative enterprise and labor force surveys since the 
crisis began remains scarce. The approach we take is to 
use micro- and sector-level data collected prior to the crisis 
and compare enterprise and worker characteristics across 

those manufacturing sectors that have seen the most severe 
slowdown in exports to the remaining manufacturing 
sectors. In particular, we examine enterprise and worker 
characteristics across two groups of manufacturing 
sectors: the five manufacturing industries that experienced 
the largest absolute decline in exports between March 
�008 and March �009, and the remaining manufacturing 
industries. Table �.4 lists the former for selected developing 
countries from East Asia, Southeast Asia, and South Asia. 
Khor and Sebastian (forthcoming) identify these industries 
and combine current monthly exports data with industrial 
statistics in PRC, Indonesia, India, Korea, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Viet Nam. They find 
that the decline in exports is severe for the most affected 
products, at times exceeding �0% year-on-year, even when 
the total exports of the country as a whole are only mildly 
affected.

Worker characteristics 

Table �.� summarizes key worker characteristics across 
three sectors using microdata from labor force surveys 
from India, Indonesia, the Philippines, and Thailand.11 A 
quick glance reveals considerable diversity across countries 
in the characteristics of workers in the worst affected 
manufacturing sectors, relative to other manufacturing 
sectors. 

11	 Data	 for	 India	 comes	 from	 National	 Sample	 Survey	 Organization	
(NSSO)	 Employment	 and	 Unemployment	 Schedule	 10	 Survey	 of	
�00�–0�.	 Indonesian	data	 refers	 to	 the	�007	SAKERNAS	survey.	
The	Philippines	data	comes	 from	Labor	Force	Survey	�007,	while	
Thailand	data	comes	from	the	Thai	Labor	Force	Survey	�00�.	
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Notes: * 1st Quarter 2008 to 1st Quarter 2009 (Hong Kong, China; Malaysia; Thailand; 
Singapore); April 2008 to April 2009 (Philippines); May 2008 to May 2009 (Republic of 
Korea) May 2008 to May 2009 (Taipei,China, data correspond to monthly data); 
February 2008 to February 2009 (Indonesia).

 ** For India, this is an enterprise survey in the industries/sectors supposed to be badly 
affected by the economic slowdown.

Sources: Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong, China (www.censtatd.gov.hk); 
BPS-Statistics, Indonesia (www.bps.go.id); Korean Statistical Information Service, 
Republic of Korea (www.kosis.kr); Department of Statistics Malaysia 
(http://www.statistics.gov.my/eng/); National Statistics Office, Philippines 
(www.census.gov.ph); Ministry of Manpower, Singapore (www.mom.gov.sg); National 
Statistics, Taipei,China (eng.stat.gov.tw); National Statistics Office, Thailand 
(web.nso.go.th), downloaded June 26, 2009; Report on Effect of Economic Slowdown 
on Employment in India, Ministry of Labour and Employment, Government of India.

Figure 2.6 Change in Number of Employees by Industry (thousands, year-on-year*)
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Notes: Hong Kong, China—change in median hours of work per week by industry, first quarter 2008 to first quarter 2009. Singapore—change in average hours of work per week by 
industry, first quarter 2008 to first quarter 2009.

Sources: Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong, China (www.censtatd.gov.hk); Ministry of Manpower, Singapore (www.mom.gov.sg).

Figure 2.7 Change in Hours Worked
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Figure 2.8 Change in Earnings in Singapore and Thailand (%)

Nevertheless, a couple of patterns seem to be 
common. In particular, workers in the worst-affected 
sectors tend to be more educated and urban than those in 
other manufacturing. For example, in Indonesia, workers in 
the worst affected manufacturing sectors average 9.� years 
of schooling, but only 8.� years in the other manufacturing 
sectors. Only in India is this pattern less pronounced. 

Somewhat similarly, for Philippines and Indonesia—
where labor force surveys distinguish between casual 
and regular wage workers (unlike Thailand), and self-

employment is not particularly high (unlike India where 
almost half of manufacturing workers are self-employed)—
regular wage workers are more prevalent than casual wage 
workers. In view of the fact that the most vulnerable 
group of workers tends to be casual wage workers, the 
sectoral averages here suggest that relatively more of the 
laid-off workers in the worst affected industries would be 
able to get some sort of severance-related benefits from 
employers as compared to a hypothetical scenario where 
other manufacturing industries were worse hit. 
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Table	�.�		Top 5 Declining Exports, Q1 2008 to Q1 2009

Economy Exports Arranged By Largest Absolute Year-on-Year 
Decline (% year-on-year decline in parenthesis)

China,	People’s	
Republic	of

Non-electrical	machinery	(-�1.7%)
Wearing	apparel	including	footwear	(-��.�%)
Electrical	machinery	and	apparatus	(-��.�%)
Textiles	(-��.�%)
Professional	and	scientific	equipment	(-�7.6%)

Hong	Kong,	China Wearing	apparel	including	footwear	(-76.�%)
Iron,	steel	and	non	ferrous	metals	(-6�.�%)
Non-electrical	machinery	(-��.�%)
Plastic	products	(-�6.�%)
Electrical	machinery	(-��.8%)

India Jewelry	and	related	articles	(-�7.8%)
Basic	iron	&	steel	(-��.9%)
Grain	mill	products	(-�8.6%)
Textile	yarns,	fabrics	and	made-up	articles	(-��.�%)
Casting	of	iron,	steel	and	non-ferrous	metals	(-6�.7%)

Indonesia Basic	precious	and	non-ferrous	metals	(-60.�%)
Produced,	processed	and	preserved	meat,	fish,	fruit,	
vegetables,	oils	and	fats	(-�1.9%)
Basic	chemicals,	rubber	and	plastics	products	(-�7.1%)
Electrical	machinery	and	apparatus	(-�1.9%)
Textiles	(-��.7%)

Korea,	Republic	of Electrical	machinery	and	apparatus	(-�9.1%)
Telecom,	sound	recording	&	reproducing	apparatus	(-�6.�%)
Basic	chemicals,	rubber	and	plastics	products	(-�6.�%)
Special	purpose	machinery	and	equipment	(-�1.1%)
Road	vehicles	and	components	(-8.0%)

Malaysia Processed	and	preserved	meat,	fish,	fruit,	vegetables,	oils	
and	fats	(-�9.�%)
Basic	chemicals,	rubber	and	plastics	products	(-�7.�%)
Metal	manufactures	&	general	industrial	non-electrical	
machinery	(-�1.�%)
Telecom,	sound	recording	&	reproducing	apparatus	(-��.7%)
Office	accounting	and	computing	machinery	(-17.�%)

Philippines Electrical	machinery	and	apparatus	(-��.0%)
Office	accounting	and	computing	machinery	(-�1.6%)
Road	vehicles	and	components	(-�1.8%)
Clothing,	leather	products	and	footwear	(-�0.�%)
Processed	and	preserved	meat,	fish,	fruit,	vegetables,		
oils/fats,	beverages	(-17.�%)

Singapore Other	food	products	/	Tobacco	products	(-�6.�%)
Electrical	machinery	and	apparatus	(-�8.7%)
Basic	chemicals,	rubber	and	plastics	products	(-�6.6%)
Office	accounting	and	computing	machinery	(-��.9%)
Metal	manufactures,general	industrial	non-electrical	
machinery	and	equipment	(-��.�%)

Viet	Nam Food	and	beverages	(-�0.�%)
Leather,	leather	products	and	footwear	(-��.7%)
Textiles	(-11.6%)
Rubber	and	plastics	products	(-�7.1%)
Wood	products	(excl.	furniture)	(-�0.1%)

Note:	 Export	data	for	India	refer	to	November	�007	and	November	�008.
Source:	 Khor	and	Sebastian	(forthcoming).

Table	�.�  Labor Force Surveys: Characteristics of Workers in the Worst Affected Manufacturing Industries

Country 

Years of Schooling % Urban % of Regular Workers * % Female
Top 5 affected 

industries Other industries
Top 5 affected 

industries Other industries
Top 5 affected 

industries Other industries
Top 5 affected 

industries Other industries
India	 6.� 6.�7 ��.67% ��.��% �7.9�% �7.�7% ��.76% ��.70%
Indonesia	 9.�� 8.�� 6�.9�% �9.01% 77.��% �9.�6% �7.�7% �8.��%
Philippines	 11.�7 10.16 71.��% 6�.80% �9.�6% �9.98% ��.7�% ��.��%
Thailand** 8.89 7.8� ��.�6% �0.��% -	 - ��.07% �9.0�%

*	Regular	wage	workers	as	a	share	of	total	regular	wage	workers,	casual	wage	workers,	and	the	self-employed.
**	Thai	data	do	not	allow	us	to	distinguish	casual	from	regular	employees.
Source:	 Authors'	estimates	from	Labor	Force	Surveys.

A final feature of Table �.� is that female workers 
are not uniformly more prevalent in the worst-hit sectors. 
In fact, it is only in the Philippines and Indonesia where 
female workers are more prevalent in those sectors relative 
to other manufacturing. However, it needs to be kept in 
mind that in so far as employment in exporting firms is 
concerned—something that the labor force surveys are 
silent on—there is evidence that female workers may 
be disproportionately affected by export slowdowns. 
As Figure �.9 based on World Bank Enterprise Survey 
(WBES) data shows, females make up a higher proportion 
of exporting firms’ workforces in a broad cross-section of 
manufacturing industries in a majority of the developing 
Asian countries shown.

PRC = People’s Republic of China
Source: Authors’ estimates based on WBES. 

Figure 2.9 Share of Female Workers in 
Exporting and Non-Exporting Enterprises (%)
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Enterprise characteristics

Data from industrial statistics show that average firm size 
(as measured by number of workers) in the sectors most 
affected by the export slowdown is larger than in other 
sectors (see Table �.�). While in a couple of cases the 
reported differences in average firm size are minor, in many 
others the differences are quite significant. For example, 
in Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, Philippines, and Singapore 
the average firm size in the top five affected sectors is 40% 
(or more) larger than in the rest of manufacturing. 

This does not necessarily mean the direct impact of 
export declines everywhere would be felt more by large 
enterprises than by others. Assuming small enterprises to 
be those with less than �0 workers, large enterprises those 
with �00 or more, and medium-sized in between, Table 
�.� (first column) reveals that the average firm in the most 
affected manufacturing sectors is small in Hong Kong, 
China and Korea and medium-sized in India, Malaysia, 
and Singapore. 

Of course, figures on average size can mask 
considerable heterogeneity in enterprise size within sectors. 
Moreover, not all enterprises in a sector are involved 
in exporting—typically most are not. For example, it 
is possible that smaller enterprises in a given sector are 
focused more on domestic demand, while exports come 
more from larger enterprises. Alternatively, the opposite 
may be true. To examine this issue, we turn again to the 
WBES database. Among other things, information is 
provided on the share of each firm’s output that is exported, 
directly or indirectly. As Figure �.10 reveals, the output of 
small enterprises is on average clearly oriented towards the 
domestic market. For example, in 9 of 11 Asian countries 
for which data are available, 80% or more of the output 
of small enterprises is geared toward the domestic market, 

Table	�.6  Average Firm Size in Manufacturing

Average Firm Size
Economy top 5 affected sectors other industries
China,	People's	Republic	of ���	 �11	
Hong	Kong,	China 1�	 11	
India 66	 6�	
Indonesia �6�	 18�	
Korea,	Republic	of �8	 �0	
Malaysia 88	 �9	
Philippines �70	 109	
Singapore 6�	 �7	
Viet	Nam 1�1	 1�0	

Notes:	 1.	Average	firm	size	 is	measured	by	dividing	the	total	number	of	employees	
by	 the	 total	number	of	establishments	across	 the	various	groups	of	sectors	
considered	here.

		 �.	The	top	�	affected	sectors	in	manufacturing	refers	to	those	that	experienced	
the	biggest	absolute	decline	in	exports.

Source:	 Khor	and	Sebastian	(forthcoming)	using	UNIDO	industrial	statistics.
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Note: small firms: 5–49 workers; medium: 50–199 workers; large: 200 and 

above workers. 
Source: Authors’ estimates based on WBES data.

0
20

40
60

80
10

0

Figure 2.10 Share of Total Sales Sold Domestically: 
Small, Medium, and Large Enterprises (%)

and 70–80% in the other two. As for large enterprises, the 
range of average output oriented towards the domestic 
market is quite wide—from around �0% in Sri Lanka to 
around 70% in PRC, India, Korea and Pakistan. While the 
industries surveyed and the specific sampling procedures 
used to choose enterprises may be driving some of the 
specifics, the overall pattern across countries is quite clear: 
on average, smaller enterprises will be more oriented 
toward the domestic market and therefore larger firms are, 
initially, more likely to be the worst-hit.

In addition to their domestic orientation, SMEs, 
especially small ones, may be partly shielded from the 
tightening of conditions in formal financial markets 
because even in the best of times they typically face 
considerable difficulty accessing formal finance, such 
as from banks. Figure �.11 contrasts the share of bank 
finance in working capital for small and large enterprises 
using the WBES database. With the exception of Malaysia, 
small enterprises everywhere are less likely than large 
enterprises to use bank finance.1� For example, in most of 
the other countries in the figure, the share of bank finance 
in working capital is often at least 10 percentage points 
less for small enterprises than large enterprises. 

1�	 Though	not	shown	here,	medium-sized	enterprises	tend	to	access	
bank	finance	less	than	large	enterprises	as	well,	but	there	are	a	few	
exceptions	(as	per	the	WBES	data).
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The foregoing discussion should not be taken to 
indicate that SMEs are escaping the crisis unscathed. First, 
much of the discussion so far has focused on the impact 
emanating from declining exports, and the direct impact on 
exporters. Quite apart from the fact that in some industries 
SMEs play a significant role in exporting—such as gems 
and jewelry in India—SMEs can also be an important part 
of the production value chain. Thus, even if they do not 
export, their products feed into the production of goods that 
do. This is certainly the case in the automobile industry, 

Note: small: 5–49 workers; large: 200 workers and above.
Source: Authors’ estimates based on WBES data.

Figure 2.11 Share of Bank Finance in Working Capital (%)
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where SMEs producing a variety of components are linked 
to large automobile manufacturers through subcontracting 
relationships (see Section 7 for more details on these 
links). Moreover, backward links in production mean that 
not only exporting sectors, but also those that produce 
inputs in other sectors will be affected. The extent of the 
links can be illustrated by data from input-output tables. In 
wearing apparel, for example, a large chunk of final value 
added comes from intermediate goods and services. Thus 
a $1 drop in apparel exports implies a drop in intermediate 
manufacturing inputs of ��.� cents in the PRC, 4�.� cents in 
India, and 4�.9 cents in Indonesia (Khor and Sebastian). 

More generally, very few enterprises can remain 
unaffected by a drop in aggregate demand. To see 
this, consider Taipei,China. As noted in Section �.�, 
manufacturing, construction, and trade services are three 
sectors where employment has declined. In Taipei,China, 
while the importance of SMEs in manufacturing 
employment is well-known, information on the size 
distribution of enterprises in other sectors reveals that if 
anything, SMEs dominate the landscape even more in 
construction and trade services (Figure �.1�). The figure 
presents the distribution of employment across SMEs and 
large enterprises (where SMEs can be taken to include 
microenterprises, or enterprises with less than � workers). 
In both trade and construction, large enterprises account 
for a much smaller portion of total employment than 
manufacturing does.

Finally, SMEs that export are precisely the type 
that need to be encouraged. As will be explained in detail 
in Section �, microenterprises and SMEs account for 
a very large share of employment in most developing 
Asian countries. Unfortunately, wages and productivity 
tend to be low in many of these enterprises, with adverse 

Note: Enterprise size is measured in terms of the number of workers.
Sources: 2006 Industry, Commerce, and Service Census, Census Bureau; Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics.
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consequences for living standards. While the prospects for 
making microenterprises more dynamic seems somewhat 
limited, there is considerable potential for making SMEs 
more dynamic. Figure �.1� describes the introduction of 
new technology by SMEs based on whether or not they 
export: as can be seen clearly, exporting SMEs are more 
likely to introduce new technologies, especially in lower 
income countries such as India and Indonesia. Similarly, 
exporting SMEs are also more likely to be a part of the 
formal financial system. This can be seen in Figure �.14. A 
squeeze on bank credit is likely to affect these enterprises 
more, all else being equal.

2.4	 Assisting	Enterprises	Hit	by	the	Crisis

In view of the foregoing discussion it should not be 
surprising that governments in the region have taken 
several measures to support enterprises, especially SMEs, 
and their workers. Table �.7 highlights some of these. (Box 
�.� provides more details of the case of the PRC as far as 
SMEs are concerned.)

One way to determine the effectiveness of the various 
measures in helping enterprises and workers is to examine 
experiences from previous crises. As discussed in Box �.�, 
the 1997/98 financial crisis resulted in severe contractions 
in output and created widespread challenges for firms 
and workers. Interestingly, there seems to be no simple 

PRC = People’s Republic of China
Note: SME: 5–199 workers.
Source:  Authors’ estimates based on the WBES.

Figure 2.13 Introduction of New Technology by SMEs: Exporters versus 
Non-exporters (% of enterprises that introduced new technology)
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Source: Authors’ estimates based on the WBES.

Figure 2.14 Average Share of 
Bank Finance for Working Capital, by Export Status (%)
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relationship between enterprise size and the impact of the 
crisis. As Box �.4 explains, the evidence that SMEs can act 
as shock absorbers in times of crisis and that they safeguard 
employment is mixed. Indeed, it is precisely because 
SMEs were also hit hard by that crisis that governments 
in virtually all affected economies issued a variety of laws, 
decrees, and regulations to help workers and SMEs. In 
some cases, agencies were created exclusively to support 
SMEs, especially to increase their access to financing. 
In addition, SMEs received direct financial support, for 
example, through the creation of special credit funds and 
credit guarantee funds. Indirect financial support was 
provided through tax incentives, lower interest rates, and 
the relaxation of regulatory requirements.

A comparison of the SME sectors in Taipei,China and 
Korea after the 1997/98 crisis demonstrates the importance 
of government policies. Although the Korean firms were 
subject to greater external impact and turbulence than their 
Taipei,China counterparts, they seem to have performed 
better in the period immediately after 1997. This can be 
partly attributed to the Korean government’s heightened 
commitment to SMEs in mid-1998, and the subsequent 
creation of a framework of SME policies aimed at helping 
SMEs overcome barriers and supporting structural reforms 
and technological development (Gregory et al. �00�). The 
government’s effort to restructure the financial system 
in the 1990s is another key factor explaining the ability 
of Korea’s SME sector to cope (Hall and Harvie �00�). 
SME-friendly reforms included easing regulations on 
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Table	�.7  Selected Policy Measures to Assist Enterprises

Region/
Economy SME Loans Loan Guarantees Tax Incentives Others

South and Central Asia 

Bangladesh Continue	current	thrust	of	providing	adequate	
credit	support	to	agriculture,	SMEs,	and	other	
productive	sectors	that	are	primary	sources	of	
job	expansion

India	 Stimulus	package	focusing	on	access	to	credit,	
and	 to	 protect	 employment	 in	 labor-intensive	
industries	 and	 government	 infrastructure;	
provided	 shipment	 credit	 for	 labor-intensive	
exports	with	interest	subvention	

Credit	Guarantees;	Fund	Trust	for	Micro	
and	Small	Enterprises

Duty	reductions/eliminations	and	
service	tax	refunds

Additional	allocation	for	
export	incentive	schemes

Kazakhstan Macroeconomic	 Stabilization	
Plan	costing	$1�	billion,	which	
includes	SME	development

Kyrgyz	Republic Unified	tax	code	for	small	
businesses	fell	from	10%	to	6%

Pakistan	 Subsidized	interest	rates;	provided	credit	finance	
to	 exporters	 by	 enhancing	 bank	 limits	 under	
the	 Export	 Finance	 Schemes	 and	 Long-term	
Financing	Facility	by	Rs��	billion

Credit	Guarantee	Agency;	Credit	
Information	Center

Sri	Lanka Stimulus	 package	 valued	 at	
Rs16	billion	which	includes	cuts	
in	 fuel	 prices	 and	 incentives	
to	tea,	rubber,	cinnamon,	and	
garments	export	sectors

Uzbekistan Lending	on	concessional	terms	for	exporters Tax	cuts	for	SMEs,	tax	deferments	
and	 tax	 exemptions	 for	 export	
industries

Southeast Asia 

Indonesia	 Simplified	requirements	for	lending	to	SMEs Direct	People’s	Business	Credit	
Scheme	(KUR)

	 	

Malaysia	 	 SME	Credit	Bureau;	$16	billion	stimulus	
package	that	focused	on	job	creation	and	
credit	guarantees	to	SMEs

Philippines	 	 	 Exempt	from	income	tax,	import	
duty,	for	6	years

	

Singapore $1.�	 billion	 package	 that	 improves	 business	
access	to	credit	and	trade	finance	scheme	to	
help	exporters	obtain	loans	and	insurance

	 $1.8	 billion	 for	 tax	 measures	 &	
grants	 to	 improve	 cash	 flow	 and	
competitiveness	of	firms

	

Thailand	 	 Portfolio	Guarantee	Scheme	for	SMEs Enacted	tax	measures	to	promote	
SMEs	in	January	�009;	extension	of	
tax	allowance	for	mortgage	interest	
payments	and	property	tax	breaks	
for	companies

	

East Asia

China,	People's	
Republic	of

�	 state	 banks	 to	 open	 special	 service	 credit	
outlets	 for	 SMEs	 in	 �	 yrs;	 additional	 CNY	 1	
billion	for	SMEs;	reserve	requirements	for	banks	
have	 been	 reduced	 and	 lending	 quotas	 have	
been	increased

Tax	rebates	for	exports;	VAT	cut	
by	allowing	companies	to	deduct	
the	full	cost	of	capital	equipment

Hong	Kong,	China	 	 Expansion	 of	 SME	 Credit	 Guarantee	
Scheme	to	HK$100	billion	while	continuing	
to	provide	70%	loan	guarantees

	

Korea,	Republic	of Increase	loans	to	SME	from	$�1.�	billion	to	
$�1.�	billion

Increase	credit	guarantee	for	SME	$��.7	
billion	 won;	 and	 cut	 interest	 rates	 on	
special	loans	to	SMEs

Taipei,China Increased	 donation	 to	 SME	 Credit	
Guarantee	Fund	by	NT$1	billion

	 NT$�00	 billion	 to	 develop	
competitive	 industries	 and	
NT$��.7	 billion	 to	 promote	
employment	 and	 provide	 on-
the-job	 training	 to	 workers	
over	�	years

Source:	 Various	reports	compiled	by	ADB	staff.
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Box 2.3 Policy Measures to Assist SMEs in the People’s Republic of China

Source: Xiaoping Xu, Center for Small Enterprise Financing Studies, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics.

Small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in the People’s Republic 
of China (PRC), like their counterparts elsewhere, have been hurt by 
the current worldwide economic crisis, and began to feel the effects 
at a time (in the first half of 2008) when they were already facing 
serious operational difficulties due to increases in input and labor 
costs, yuan appreciation, and the then tighter monetary policies 
aimed at slowing an over-heated economy. 

The combined effect of the earlier difficulties and the current crisis 
has been stark. According to one official estimate, by the end of 
2008, about 7.5% of the PRC’s SMEs had already gone out of 
business, and an even greater number were forced to curtail their 
operations. While the PRC’s export-oriented SMEs were the first to 
be affected by the crisis, the impact on other SMEs has also been 
severe, according to media reports. 

The government's expansionary fiscal and monetary policy should 
help alleviate a difficult situation. Some of the measures are aimed 
directly at assisting SMEs. For example, on the fiscal front, the 
government has canceled a number of fees previously levied on 
SMEs, and increased the tax rebate rate for enterprises in certain 
sectors (such as textiles). Similarly, the People’s Bank of China 
has reduced the required reserve ratio for small and medium-sized 
financial institutions (SMFIs) by 4 percentage points, twice that for 
major financial institutions. This policy is widely believed to favor 
SMEs given that SMFIs are expected to lend disproportionately more 
to them. 

A number of steps have also been taken in developing financial 
markets and institutions. In direct financing, the main policy 
developments include the issuance of “SME collective bonds”, 
permitting eligible SMEs to finally raise funds directly from the 
capital market for long-term development. Another development is 
the recent launch, after years of hesitation, of the Growth Enterprise 
Board in the capital market to meet the needs of rapidly growing 

SMEs. In indirect financing, important policy developments—some 
initiated almost 3 years ago but expected to bear fruit over the short 
and medium term—have included:

(i) Allowing private capital to enter rural financial markets by 
establishing “village-township banks”, credit companies, and 
rural credit unions in rural areas. 

(ii) Permitting the establishment of small credit companies to 
provide loans to small enterprises. (By the end of March 2009, 
583 small credit companies had been set up.) 

(iii) Urging existing commercial banks to establish separate pseudo-
subsidiary style special SME departments to serve the special 
financing needs of SMEs. 

(iv) Allocating large scale funds to develop SME-oriented credit 
guarantee agencies and waiving three years’ business tax for 
such credit guarantee institutions. 

An assessment of the effectiveness of these policies is premature, 
as it will take time for their effect to become clear. However, the 
following points may be noted: first, while the PRC’s SMEs have been 
considerably under-serviced by its formal financial institutions, the 
reason for this is not some specific weaknesses in these institutions, 
but the general lack of development of a comprehensive and well-
functioning formal financial sector. Until such progress is made, SMEs 
are likely to remain under-serviced. Second, a comprehensive range 
of formal financial institutions can ensure that problems inherent to 
any financial system, such as risks and information asymmetries, can 
be addressed by the right institutions for the right clients. Thus, SMEs 
may be better serviced by SMFIs, including village-township banks 
and small credit companies. In this context, steps to establish and 
effectively regulate these and other similar institutions are welcome. 
In summary, there are few quick fixes to the difficulties SMEs face 
accessing finance. As the discussion in Section 6 of this chapter 
indicates, progress on this front will take time.

entry barriers and business activities; allowing foreigners 
to purchase long-term non-guaranteed bonds issued by 
SMEs; and introducing measures to increase the availability 
of credit (Oh and Park �008). 

Unfortunately, the effectiveness of these measures is 
hard to judge rigorously. Studies such as Oh et al (�008), 
whereby the effect of a credit guarantee program was 
introduced by the Korean government to support SMEs, 
seem to be quite rare (Box �.�). (A credit guarantee program 
reduces the losses incurred by banks from defaulting SMEs 
by assuming a share of the losses normally in return for a 
guarantee fee.) More generally, there is a suspicion that in 
many cases the interventions undertaken may have been 
poorly implemented. For example, in the PRC, while the 
government lowered benchmark interest rates for banks, 
some banks still increased interest rates for SMEs by �0–
�0%, charged advisory fees, and required cash-strapped 
enterprises to repay loans in advance. As Box �.� has 

argued on the basis of the experience in the PRC, there is 
in general no quick fix solution to such problems. What is 
required are longer-term measures aimed at strengthening 
financial development.

In the context of the crisis today, the most common 
government response seems to be an increase in credit 
guarantee programs for SMEs.1� Anecdotal evidence 
suggests, however, that banks have been slow to 
participate for several reasons. To some extent, the issue 
is one of timing—more time is needed to implement 
the program through the network of local branches. But 
more generally, commercial banks have difficulty finding 
bankable SMEs—an enduring problem that is discussed in 
more detail in Section �—while government SME banks 
face huge amounts of nonperforming loans. Indeed, one 

1�	 In	�009,	the	Korean	government’s	credit	guarantee	for	SMEs	will	be	
increased	by	W6�.6	trillion,	more	than	7%	of	Korean	gross	domestic	
product	(GDP),	up	significantly	from	around	�%	of	GDP	in	�008.
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lesson learned from the measures taken in the aftermath 
of the 1997/98 Asian financial crisis is that forcing state 
banks to provide cheap and easy credit to SMEs without 
careful review is likely to result in resource misallocation. 
For example, the SME Bank of Thailand reported that 
nonperforming loans of SMEs amounted to ��% of total 
credit outstanding compared to an average of 1�–17% in 
the financial sector as a whole.

Finally, it should be noted that the provision of credit 
alone cannot ensure SMEs will be successful. As will be 
argued later in this chapter, a key constraint for SMEs 
relates to technology and skills. The focus of assistance 
should thus be on providing holistic and long-term 
solutions to the problems SMEs face, not just on helping 
SMEs survive the crisis but also supporting their capacity 
for long-term development and growth.

2.5	 Fostering	Enterprise	Dynamism	in	the	
Aftermath	of	the	Crisis

It is too early to know whether a global economic recovery 
is taking hold. However, there seems to be agreement 
among many analysts about the broad contours of global 
trade and finance that will emerge in its aftermath. In 

Box 2.4 SMEs in the 1997/98 Asian Financial Crisis

1 A study by Wengel and Rodriguez (2006) found that over the period of 1996 to 2000, exports by small firms (those with fewer than 100 workers) grew by 83%, while 
those of the largest enterprises fell by 10%. Illustrating SMEs’ contribution to the Indonesian economy, the sector’s share of total industrial exports increased from 28.4% 
in 1996 to 34.4% in 2000.

2 A possible reason large Indonesian enterprises fared worse in exports than SMEs is because the former were too dependent on imported inputs. SMEs’ low import 
requirements allowed them to reinforce their international competitiveness, and easily shift from domestic to overseas markets. Another possibility is that SMEs were less 
reliant on formal credit—only one in five SMEs had formal bank loans (Brazier and Rodriguez 2002)—sparing them the financial burdens that large enterprises suffered 
because of the banking sector meltdown.

There is considerable interest in policy circles in understanding 
the links between industrial structure and economic resilience. For 
example, it is often claimed that small firms, because they can adjust 
faster to changing circumstances, can better deal with economic 
shocks, or that they can better absorb labor in times of crisis. The 
experience of the 1997/98 Asian financial crisis sheds some useful 
light on these issues.

The evidence of SMEs as shock absorbers is mixed. In Indonesia, on 
one hand, the data seems to suggest that SMEs weathered the crisis 
better than large enterprises.1 On the other, small firms recorded 
the highest rate of closures among all enterprises. Indeed, small firm 
exits led to a rupiah (Rp) 354 billion loss in exports from 1996 to 
2000, but expansions and new entries to the sector accounted for 
a Rp 1,187 billion gain in exports, suggesting that a high exit rate in 
the sector was coupled with high entry rates.2

As for SMEs safeguarding employment, the evidence has not been 
consistent. In Malaysia and Republic of Korea, a smaller proportion 

of small firms reported fewer workers after the crisis as compared 
to their large counterparts, suggesting the former engaged in less 
retrenchment; but the data from Indonesia and Thailand shows 
the opposite (see Box Table 2.4). Also, in capacity utilization, large 
enterprises performed better in all five countries, although this is 
inconclusive given that firms’ capacity utilization before the crisis is 
unavailable for comparison. 

Box Table 2.4  Impact of 1997 Crisis on East Asian Firms

Share of Firms with Fewer 
Workers After Crisis (%)

Capacity Utilization 
Level After Crisis (%)

Korea, Rep. of Small 61 71
Large 80 77

Indonesia Small 54 51
Large 45 63

Philippines Small 50 76
Large 50 79

Malaysia Small 29 64
Large 40 73

Thailand Small 56 57
Large 45 67

Source: Dwor-Frécaut, Colaço, and Hallward-Driemeier (2000). Table 1.3, 
pg.9.

particular, it is widely believed that world trade will grow 
slower than in the run-up to the crisis, and there will be 
less tolerance for large current account balances in the US 
and other industrialized nations (ADB �009b and Rodrik 
�009). 

In developing Asia, while the vast majority of 
enterprises are oriented toward meeting domestic demand, 
exports of manufactured products in particular are widely 
believed to have contributed to the broader economic 
dynamism of successful East and Southeast Asian 
economies.14 (Conversely, the weak record of South Asian 
countries in exporting manufactured products is often 
taken as both symptom and cause of that region’s weaker 
performance.) Moreover, exports represented an important 
way out of the Asian financial crisis of 1997/98 for 
affected economies such as Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, 
and Thailand. 

1�	 There	are	many	channels	that	have	been	put	forward	for	the	special	
role	for	exports.	These	range	from	highlighting	the	connection	between	
exporting	and	gains	from	learning	about	new	technologies	and	markets;	
the	fact	that	export	earnings	enabled	countries	to	import	productivity	
improving	 capital	 goods	 and	 other	 inputs	 to	 production;	 and	 also	
that	exports	allow	an	expansion	of	aggregate	demand	without	much	
inflationary	pressure	and	without	the	danger	of	a	wage-price	spiral	
(see	ADB	(�00�b)	and	Felipe	(�00�)	for	a	detailed	discussion).	
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Box 2.5 Credit Guarantees for SMEs: Their Efficacy in the Republic of Korea After the 1997/98 Asian Financial Crisis

1 Of course, if the firms covered were those that were less productive to begin with—as suggested by their lower levels of total factor productivity—it is possible that the 
credit guarantees may have hurt the long-run productivity of the economy by extending the life of less productive firms.

Source: Oh et al. (2008).

Credit guarantees became a popular policy instrument for Asian 
governments to help domestic firms, especially SMEs, in the wake 
of the crisis. However, despite the scale of funding required for 
the program to function, there has been scant evaluation of credit 
guarantees. Oh et al. (2008) examine the efficacy of such schemes 
in Korea, using propensity score matching methods and a complete, 
comprehensive panel database of all manufacturing firms with more 
than five employees.

Public credit guarantees in Korea are provided by two major 
institutions: Korea Credit Guarantee Fund (KCGF) and the Korea 
Technology Credit Guarantee Fund (KOTEC). KCGF was established 
in 1976 with the aim of extending credit guarantees to promising 
enterprises lacking tangible collateral. KOTEC was founded in 1989 
to focus on technology-based enterprises. As shown in Box Figure 
2.3, the amount of credit guarantee increased steeply in 1998.

For the manufacturing industry, these public guarantees cover about a 
third of total credit guarantee balances for 2001 and 2002. For their 
sample, Oh et al. (2008) exclude firms that do not have complete 
data over 2000–2003, yielding a sample encompassing roughly half 
of all manufacturing plants. In these two years, credit guarantees 
covered almost one fifth of these manufacturing firms: about 9% of 
all manufacturing firms received credit guarantees from KCGF and 
KOTEC each, and another 2% received them from both agencies.

An important finding is that there were initial differences in 
characteristics of firms that eventually received support in 2001. Thus 
it is important for evaluators to account for selection. In particular, 
credit guarantees are significantly more likely to be allocated to 
firms with larger sales and more workers. The researchers also 
found evidence of adverse selection, in that firms supported by 
both programs are more likely to have lower levels of total factor 
productivity than non-supported firms. 

The impact of these credit guarantees is large and significant for 
both KCGF and KOTEC: sales in supported firms grew more than 
16% faster than in non-supported firms. This positive differential is 
observed for employment and wage growth, albeit at a lower level. 
Credit guarantees also slightly increased the survival probability of 
firms (about 2–3%).1

Source: Oh et al (2008).

Box Figure 2.3 Credit Guarantees for KCGF and KOTEC
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Yet, a period of muted post-crisis growth in world 
trade need not have dire implications for developing 
Asia. First, the region is very diverse and there are many 
countries where exports are by no means particularly large 
relative to the size of their economies. For such countries, 
including those from South Asia as well as Cambodia and 
Lao People's Democratic Republic (Lao PDR), greater 
international integration will remain both possible and 
desirable. This is especially so if these countries also 
diversify their production structures so that their exports 
are not overwhelmingly dependent on narrowly defined 
product lines or one or two major markets.

Second, for countries with persistent current-account 
surpluses, such as the PRC, some rebalancing of growth 
toward domestic demand will be required, as argued in 
ADB (�009b). Of course, this is not going to be easy. 

But if the process is successful, the benefits will accrue 
to the whole region, not only the countries achieving this. 
In particular, a successful rebalancing would lead to more 
robust regional integration (that is, rather than regional 
integration in which production networks are heavily 
geared to final demand in industrialized countries). 

The success of rebalancing will depend on several 
factors. A crucial one is the emergence of a large and 
rapidly growing middle class. This in turn will hinge on 
the dynamism of Asian enterprises, especially small- and 
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), where a large fraction 
of Asia’s workers are employed. Understanding how public 
policy can improve enterprise performance, especially of 
SMEs, therefore becomes critical—a subject explored in 
the remainder of this chapter.
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